
 

Neuadd Cyngor Ceredigion, Penmorfa, 
Aberaeron, Ceredigion SA46 0PA 

ceredigion.gov.uk 
 

 

1 
 

1 February 2022 
 

Dwynwen Jones 
 

 
 

Dear Sir / Madam 
 
I write to inform you that a Meeting of the Corporate Resources Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee will be held via ZOOM on Monday, 7 February 2022 at 10.00 am 
for the transaction of the following business: 
 
1.   Apologies  

 
2.   Disclosures of personal interest (including whipping declarations) 

Members are reminded of their personal responsibility to declare any 
personal and prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained in 
this agenda in accordance with the provisions of the Local 
Government Act 2000, the Council's Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct. In addition, Members must declare any prohibited 
party whip which the Member has been given in relation to the 
meeting as per the Local Government (Wales) Measure 2011.  
 

3.   Community Housing Proposals (Pages 3 - 14) 
 

4.   To confirm minutes of the previous meeting and to consider any 
matters arising from those Minutes. (Pages 15 - 18) 
 

 

 
 

Members are reminded to sign the Attendance Register 
 

A Translation Services will be provided at this meeting and those present are 
welcome to speak in Welsh or English at the meeting. 

 
 
Yours faithfully 

 
Miss Lowri Edwards 
Corporate Lead Officer: Democratic Services 
 

Public Document Pack

http://www.ceredigion.gov.uk/


To:  Chairman and Members of Corporate Resources Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 
 The remaining Members of the Council for information only. 



1 
 

Cyngor Sir CEREDIGION County Council 
 
REPORT TO: 
 

Corporate Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

DATE: 
 

07/02/2022 

LOCATION: 
 

Remotely – Video Conference 

TITLE: 
 

Community Housing Proposals 

PURPOSE OF REPORT: 
 

For the Committee to consider a view from officers on the paper 
presented to the Corporate Resources Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee on the 29th November 2021 by the Independent 
Group that set out a Vision towards creating a pathway to Home 
Ownership for the Younger Generation of Ceredigion.  
 

REASON SCRUTINY HAVE 
REQUESTED THE 
INFORMATION: 
 

To progress proposals for the introduction of housing options to 
support the vision so that younger generations have a pathway 
to home ownership. 
 
 

BACKGROUND:  
 
On the 29th November 2021 the Independent Group presented a paper setting out a vision 
towards creating a pathway to Home Ownership for the Younger Generation of Ceredigion. 
The vision had been drafted in response to the economic situation facing young people in 
Ceredigion and the lack of opportunities to enable them to purchase their first home. 
 
Evidence was presented to show that due to the economy in Ceredigion there are limited 
opportunities for young people to be able to purchase a first home. 
 
The Committee were supportive of the proposal and all recognised the need to develop a 
scheme that would support and enable young people to purchase their first property that 
would also benefit the County’s economy and culture. It was therefore agreed that:  
 
(i) the ‘Vision towards creating a pathway to Home Ownership for Younger Generation of 
Ceredigion’ was supported and passed to Officers to work up the viability of the scheme; 
 
(ii) following consideration of the scheme, Officers revert to the committee with their 
recommendations; 
 
(iii) if the scheme was ultimately approved by Cabinet/Council, the preferred funding option 
was to be modelled into the annual budget setting. 
 
KEY POINTS IN THE VISION 
 
That some form of shared equity scheme would assist people accessing the market. Whilst 
existing affordable housing meets a wide range of needs in the County there is insufficient 

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



2 
 

stock or mechanisms to help meet all needs. There is also an intermediate need because 
existing affordable housing is inaccessible due to social rented accommodation being 
prioritised to those most in need and being unable to meet existing eligibility criteria for 
affordable houses to purchase.  
 
Eligibility criteria for a new option centred around: 
 

• New properties with a value of less than £250k 
• To occupiers not being able to borrow 20% more than the value of the house 
• To the house being an occupiers sole property 
• To the occupier having a local connection through birth, schooling, employment and the length 

of time they’ve resided in the County 
• This to be managed in a similar way to existing purchasers of affordable housing. 
• That a share of equity was controlled by way of a charge on the property.  

 
Options were put forward to finance the scheme that included an annual premium of £200K 
from Revenue Support Grant (RSG). The £200K can be used to guarantee the repayments on 
a bank loan. A figure of £200K would raise £2m (based on each £100k = capacity to borrow 
£1m). Other options included use of Social Housing Grant funding, S106 planning payments 
and Second and Empty Homes premiums.  
 
The Council could also consider re-introducing a scheme to help with mortgages by offering 
mortgages with a deposit guarantee scheme.  The previous scheme supported people to 
obtain a mortgage for up to 80% of the purchase price with only a 5% deposit from the 
potential buyer, with the council guaranteeing the remainder of the 15% deposit for up to 5 
years. 
 
The paper concluded that whilst Ceredigion certainly has an affordable housing needs issue, it 
is worth noting that a significant amount of work has already been undertaken and remains 
ongoing to service these needs. There are 4000 affordable homes county-wide available  
(approximately 12% of total housing stock) and an additional (on average) 45 delivered every 
year. At present a Strategic Viability Assessment is being conducted county-wide by the 
Housing Policy team, to identify where and how much affordable housing contributions can be 
considered within the Local Development Plan Review document (LDP2). They are working 
with the Economy and Regeneration team to complete a strategy for self-build and live/work 
units on council-owned land. The Housing team are considering alternative models of delivery 
including the re-introduction of a local Home Buy scheme and working with the development 
bank of Wales to secure finance for self-builders. 
 
The introduction of any future schemes will be of benefit to the residents of Ceredigion, as it 
widens the scope and availability of affordable products in helping the youngsters of 
Ceredigion to access homes. 
 
APPRAISAL OF PROPOSAL  
 
Need 
 
The evidence provided with the paper to the Scrutiny Committee in November has been 

Page 4



3 
 

updated. The conclusions remain the same: there are significant challenges within the County 
for those seeking to access housing in particular those looking to buy in the open market for 
the first time. 
 
Recent trends, and in particular the increase in demand for properties in the county combined 
with limited supply, have created a housing boom with house prices reaching record levels. 
The ‘evidence of need’ for further support is clear, particularly in relation to affordability and in 
creating opportunities for people to live and stay in the county. Tackling these issues through 
schemes such as community-led housing aligns closely to the local housing priorities of the 
Council and the Future Generations Commissioner. 
 
Options 
 
Officers have reviewed the proposal and other options for tackling these issues. These include 
shared equity, rent to own and self-build options and undertaken some initial financial 
modelling to assist forming a view. A presentation on these options plus the financial 
modelling will be presented at the Committee. The following information captures the current 
view on those options.  
 
a) Shared Equity 
 
A form of shared equity scheme similar to that proposed would be possible subject to some 
amendments. There are already some similar approaches available in the County e.g. Help to 
Buy Wales, Home Buy schemes supported by Welsh Government and Registered Social 
Landlords.  
 
An approach which has previously been successful in Ceredigion and in line with Welsh 
Government policy ambitions and future intentions of the housing team, would be to create a 
local ‘homebuy’ scheme. Eligible potential buyers get a mortgage for 60-80% of the purchase 
price and the council owns the remaining share. At agreed intervals the occupants can at a 
pre-determined price stair case up to purchase more and more of the share of the home. 
Alternatively at some future point when they chose to move on and sell the house the initial 
percentage share of the value at sale becomes payable to the Local Authority. 
 
The Council introduced a similar low cost ownership scheme in the mid-1990s. Individuals 
purchased their own properties with standard mortgages and then alongside that the Council 
gave an interest free loan for up to 30% of the purchase price. Loan repayment crystallises on 
sale, with repayment based on the original loan %age against the original purchase price then 
being applied to the sale price.  (e.g. £15k loan against £50k purchase results in a repayment 
of £60k if it’s now sold for £200k).  
 
There are still x28 properties on our Low Cost Home Ownership Register with original loan 
values totalling £375k and now likely to be worth at least 4 times this amount. These are 
treated as Deferred Capital Receipts on the Balance Sheet and result in a real Capital Receipt 
when repayment crystallises.  
 
Experience to date shows a track record of loans remaining in place for long periods of time so 
Council benefits from long term property market movements.  

Page 5



4 
 

 
Funding for a trial could come from the existing Second Home Owner Premiums reserve, this 
should be sufficient to fund around 7 to 10 loan facilities. Further funding could then be added 
by using future premiums or other sources.  
 
Caps and eligibility would need to be developed further but are likely to be similar to those in 
the proposal. It is however suggested that occupancy criteria mirrors that of the existing 
affordable housing schemes in order to ensure those in genuine need are utilising it and it 
complies with legislative requirements such as the Equalities Act 2010. (See Appendix 1). 
 
As demand could outstrip supply, having a capped number or pot would be necessary to 
manage demand. Over time the shares of the dwelling the Council owns should increase in 
value thus ensuring no loss of capital and when returned can be recycled to provide to support 
others (albeit experience has shown recycling funds to be slow).  
 
It is understood such a scheme would operate legally as a 2nd charge on the property and 
therefore no S106 agreement would be required. It is a straightforward process to start, thus 
offering a simple to manage quick win. Furthermore, it relies on existing and new-build 
housing market stock – offering opportunities for young people to access the house of their 
choice in the location of their choice.  
 
b) Rent to Own 

 
A Rent to Own approach has been trialed in a number of locations by different housing 
agencies with various models. Essentially offering a part rent part purchase option. With 
people paying a portion of rent to the scheme manager and a portion to a regular mortgage 
company; in time building a nest egg from the rental income to use as further deposit to 
staircase up to a higher percentage of ownership.  
 
Welsh Government and other bodies have tried to operate a similar scheme; however, this 
has now ceased. Effectively the occupants paid a mortgage and a rent, and after 2 years and 
before 5 years in the property they could staircase up to full ownership by building a deposit 
through the rent paid for the additional mortgage borrowing. These properties tend to be new 
build to limit maintenance requirements of the ‘landlord’, and thus availability of such units is 
limited to new developments in certain locations. 
 
In reality, such schemes prove difficult to manage and maintain viability, with many occupiers 
choosing not to staircase up and / or rent arrears causing significant problems. Viability of 
such schemes has also proved difficult as counties such as Ceredigion have traditionally 
areas of high and low rent with viability very geographically spread and the scheme being 
aimed at Intermediate tenures (effectively part owners). This means that  they are usually not 
eligible for Local Housing Allowance (LHA) even if they were given the variability of rental 
levels across Ceredigion suggests in a number of locations LHA would not cover their costs. 
 
In order to proceed with a rent to own type scheme, detailed viability work will be required and 
a mechanism for addressing staircasing and payment of rent as well as outlining what 
percentage of rent is effectively savings. Situations where applicants are unable to staircase 
up and / or become in rent arrears would also need to be addressed. The Local Authority 

Page 6



5 
 

would need to be mindful that there would be a resource implication with such a scheme in 
managing tenancies, managing savings for the deposits, supporting tenants in a staircasing up 
/ rent arrears scenario and if in time eligible occupiers were unable to staircase up – acting as 
a landlord with maintenance implications in perpetuity. 
 
C - Self Build 
 
Developing a self -build pathway for affordable home ownership is an existing priority of the 
Economy and Regeneration Team and a pilot project has been introduced to outline the key 
issues in managing such a model. Further council owned sites have been identified that could 
be made available for self-build plots and work on such a scheme remains ongoing including 
utilising the Land and Building Development Fund to bring forward such schemes. However, it 
is a longer-term ambition, as delivery partners, planning and detailed viability work is required 
to ensure the merit of such schemes. 
 
CONCLUSIONS 
 
The Paper presented to the previous scrutiny committee rightly highlights the challenges 
facing the County and the need for additional options for people to access housing they need.  
 
It is recognised that whilst there is existing stock of over 4000 affordable homes (over 12% of 
the total housing stock countywide) across Ceredigion of varying tenures, including over 400 
‘Intermediate Tenure’ products delivered over the last 15 years, it simply isn’t enough to meet 
demand. As set out, the existing properties are generally restricted to those people in most 
need (Social rented) and those people eligible to purchase under the Affordable Housing 
scheme. There remains a group of people who we may consider in ‘intermediate need’ who 
wish to purchase or rent properties in their local communities who are ‘priced out of the 
market’ due to the increasing demand for rural properties and availability of affordable units in 
rural settlements. Therefore supporting these young people to remain in their communities is 
where ‘community housing’ could assist.  
 
By pursuing the Shared Equity model outlined above the Local Authority could support people 
to find suitable accommodation from the existing stock amounting to over 30,000 homes in the 
location of their choice. Whilst the Council would in effect be offering an interest free loan, 
which may take time to crystallise, the approach would mutually beneficial for the Council and 
the sellers.  
 
The Council could consider a 2-strand approach: 
 
1. Short to medium term reinvigorate/pilot. This would be a shared equity type product using 

existing £650k + from the Second Homes Premium with the addition of whatever is added 
to the pot this year. This could potentially support the equity share at up to 40% of average 
market values to 8 applicants.  

2. Medium to longer term: To potentially pursue a goal to do more specific work around 
Council owned sites, aiming to release them for intermediate housing. This would be 
within the confines of Housing Revenue Account and an understanding of internal capacity 
in managing such schemes. Such a project would need dedicated officer time to secure 
consents and manage the process but this is already being considered as part of the 

Page 7



6 
 

Asset Development Panel remit. 
 

Approaching matters in this way would see a phased approach to implementing the 
Independent Groups vision to help people in the County with the details of the shared equity 
scheme worked up and agreed within 12 months of the Council decision. Work on extending 
the options available to help local people would take place concurrently with the aim of 
agreeing details and implementing those in years 2 and 3 of the new political administration. 

 
 

WELLBEING OF FUTURE 
GENERATIONS: 

  
Summary: An IIA is pending subject to further discussions 
by the Scrutiny Committee.  
Long term: N/A  
Integration: N/A  
Collaboration: N/A   
Involvement: N/A  
Prevention: N/A  

 
RECOMMENDATION (S):  

Page 8



7 
 

For the Corporate Resources Overview and Scrutiny Committee to recommend to Council 
that: 
 

1) The Council decision  24/3/16  Minute 12) Report of the Deputy Chief Executive upon the 
Council Tax Premiums for long-term empty homes and second homes, point 4 be amended as 
follows: 

 
“4)a)The level of Council Tax Second Homes   Premium   charged  to be  set at 25% 
(with effect from 1 April 2017),  and,  
 
b) that all monies raised from the 25%  Council Tax Second Homes Premium  (net of 
the Council Tax refunds),  be ring -fenced and used  to support  the Community 
Housing Scheme.” 

 
2) That all monies raised from the 25% Council Tax Second Homes Premium between the period 

1/4/17 to 31/3/22 (net of Council Tax refunds), to be ring-fenced and used to support the 
Community Housing Scheme.  

 
3) That all monies raised from the 25% Council Tax Second Homes Premium from 1/4/22   (net of 

the Council Tax refunds), to be ring-fenced and used to support the Community Housing 
Scheme. 

 
4)  That from 1/4/22, all monies raised from the 25% Council Tax Empty Homes Premium (net of 

the Council Tax refunds),    be ring-fenced and used to support the Community Housing 
Scheme. 

 
5) That Council decision 16/3/17 minute 8)b) Council Tax Premiums on Second Homes, be 

revoked. 
 

6) That details of a shared equity element of the scheme are prepared and agreed within 12 
months of the Council decision and that work continues on the other options.  

 
 
REASON FOR RECOMMENDATION (S): 
 

1) In order to prepare and implement a Community Housing Scheme that acts on the vision set 
out by the Independent Group.  

2) To implement a scheme that supports people within the County to access housing that meets 
their needs.  

3) To ensure that governance arrangements around previous decisions are fit for purpose. 
 

 
 Contact Name: Russell  
Hughes-Pickering 

 

 Designation: Corporate 
Lead Officer – Economy 
and Regeneration 

 

 Date of Report: 31st 
January 2022 

 

 Acronyms:  
 

Page 9



8 
 

Appendix 1 – Eligibility Criteria  
 
Properties 
 

• Those up to £250k 
 
Loan 
 

• Owner to take 60-80% Mortgage in the Property 
• Remainder to be made up of 20-40% interest free loan 
• Loan to be repaid on sale on proportionate basis to any increase in value (e.g. a 10% 

increase in the value of the house from say £200k to £220k over a 5 period would result 
in a corresponding increase in the share to £55k where an initial £50k sum was 
invested by the Council). 

 
Occupancy Criteria  
  

• As per those defined in the Local Development Plan (See below) 
 
 
Notes: 
 
It is recommended that the planning policy team manage the eligibility of the community 
housing rather than a third party on the basis that no banding assessment. The criteria would 
also be the same as those applied currently and managed by the planning policy staff.  

When undertaking eligibility certification no value judgements are made it is a simple process 
of determining whether an applicant qualifies or not, when third sector organisations are 
involved a complex interplay of local politics can come into play, thus internal management of 
the eligibility ensures that a fair unbiased assessment is made of eligibility only. It is important 
to ensure in the eligibility criteria (as has been done for planning gain affordable housing) that 
the legislation as set out in the Equalities Act 2010 are respected. It is therefore not possible to 
set eligibility criteria that discriminate on for example marital status, Welsh Language Ability, 
age etc. 

In order to ensure that the planning delivered affordable homes in Ceredigion genuinely are 
occupied by people in affordable need we expect occupiers to obtain a certificate issued by 
the planning policy team whereby they demonstrate that they meet the 3 eligibility criteria set 
out below: 

These eligibility criteria have been developed to ensure they comply with the Equalities Act 
2010 and are able to secure mortgages on by working within the guidelines set out by the 
Council for Mortgage Lenders (CML). It is worth noting we do have some mortgage-ability 
issues with our existing Affordable products as there are only a subset of national lenders 
(approx. 3) willing to lend on them in CCC at present. 

Page 10



9 
 

In a shared equity scenario it would most likely not be necessary to implement a S106 
agreement and therefore mortgage-ability is less of a concern so differing criteria could be 
applied for the scheme and it would be worthwhile investigating what the previous scheme 
utilised in the 1990’s. 

For the planning gain Affordable Hosuing the following criteria apply: 

1. Financial Qualification: 
In Respect of Discounted For Sale Affordable Housing: 

A (combined) ability to borrow not more than the amount required to purchase the property at 
its discounted price plus 10% of that price. In respect of plots for self-build the ‘discounted 
price’ will be based on an off-plan estimate of the value of the unit.*  

In Respect of Intermediate Rent Affordable Housing: 

It is important that the Intermediate Rent affordable housing scheme should reach its target 
audience, that is:  

• those who are realistically unlikely to be able to access housing through the Common 
Housing Register who may have little option but to choose to spend a higher proportion 
of their income as rent than is deemed ‘affordable’ (i.e., >35%).  

Intermediate Rental properties will be ‘banded’ by size and applicable intermediate rent level.  

The specifics will change over time as a function of rent and wage levels in the county and the 
property size / rental value bandings from time to time will be set out in SPG.  

Eligibility to occupy Intermediate Rent Affordable Housing needs to satisfy the following 
requirements:  

• Applicant is a household with at least one member working full time (defined for the 
purpose of this scheme as 35 hours per week) 

• Intermediate Rental property applied for will not be ‘under-occupied’ by the household 
(that is, it meets the needs of the household as confirmed by the Affordable Housing 
Officer).  

• The applicant cannot access market rented properties to meet their needs at 35% or 
less of their gross earned household income 

 
 
 
2. Residency Qualification 
In the current LDP (under the past UDP it was 10 out of 20 years but this was considered un-
mortgage-able by the Council for Mortgage Lenders CML)  

In Respect of Discounted For Sale and Intermediate Rent Affordable Housing: 

Page 11



10 
 

i. A local connection in that the applicant must at some time in their life have lived in 
Ceredigion or an adjoining town/community council area (or a combination of the two) for a 
continuous period of 5 years.  

Or  

ii. A need to live in Ceredigion to substantially care for or be cared for by a close relative 
where the relative meets the requirements of paragraph “2(i)” above and the relative’s property 
is incapable (whether as it stands or subject to extension) of meeting the needs of the 
combined household.  

Or  

iii. A need to be in Ceredigion for employment purposes as a key worker on a full time (35 
hours) permanent basis. For the purposes of the LDP, a key worker is defined as follows:  

a A teacher in a school or in a further education establishment or sixth form college;  

b A nurse or other skilled health worker in the National Health Service;  

c A police officer;  

d A probation service worker; 

e. A social worker;  

f An educational psychologist;  

g An occupational therapist employed by the local authority;  

h A fire officer;  

i Any other person whose employment fulfils an important role in the provision of key services 
in Ceredigion where recruitment from within the County has proven difficult. 

3. Occupancy As Sole Residence: 
In respect of Discounted For Sale and Intermediate Rent Affordable Housing: 

The applicant will be expected to occupy the property as their sole residence and will be 
required to confirm that they do not own other residential property. Where the applicant is 
returning to Ceredigion and has unsold property which they previously occupied then a period 
of grace of not more than 12 months will be extended to allow the sale of the property to take 
place.  

Page 12



11 
 

 

  
 
  
  
  
  
  

 
 

 
 
  
  
  
  

 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



 

1 
 

Minutes of the Meeting of CORPORATE RESOURCES OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 held remotely via video-conference on Thursday, 13 January 2022 
 

PRESENT;  Councillor Keith Evans (Chair), Councillors Bryan Davies, 
Ceredig Davies, Gareth Davies, Ifan Davies, Peter Davies, Endaf Edwards, 
Lyndon Lloyd MBE, Dai Mason, Rowland Rees-Evans, Lynford Thomas, 
Wyn Thomas, Ivor Williams (Vice-Chair), Rhodri Evans, Catherine Hughes, 
Gareth Lloyd and Ray Quant MBE and Matthew Woolfall Jones 

 
Also in attendance: Councillor Rhodri Evans, Catherine Hughes, Gareth 
Lloyd and Ray Quant (Cabinet Members) 

 
Officers in attendance: Mr Geraint Edwards, Corporate Lead Officer- 
People and Organisation, Mr Arwyn Davies, Corporate Manager, Growth 
and Enterprise, Mr David Owen, Digital Development Officer, Mrs 
Dwynwen Jones, Scrutiny Officer and Mrs Dana Jones, Democratic 
Services and Standards Officer.  

 
 

1 Apologies 
Councillor Elizabeth Evans and Dan Potter apologised for their inability to 
attend the meeting. 
 

2 Disclosures of personal interest (including whipping declarations) 
Members are reminded of their personal responsibility to declare any 
personal and prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained in this 
agenda in accordance with the provisions of the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council's Constitution and the Members Code of Conduct. In 
addition, Members must declare any prohibited party whip which the 
Member has been given in relation to the meeting as per the Local 
Government (Wales) Measure 2011. 
Councillor Bryan Davies declared a personal and prejudicial interest in item 
3, Council Fleet and Driving at Work - Use of Private Vehicles 
 

3 Council Fleet and Driving at Work - Use of Private Vehicles 
Consideration was given to the development of the two new polices by 
People & Organisation Service that had been in collaboration with Highways 
and Environmental. Following initial consideration by Corporate Resources 
Overiview & Scrutiny Committee on 27 October 2021, both policies had been 
redrafted to incorporate a number of suggested amendments.   These 
polices had been subject to consultation with the relevant Trade Unions and 
their amendments had been incorporated where appropriate.   
 
The purpose of all staff policies and procedures was to clearly set out the 
behaviours, processes and procedures required of staff, how they can gain 
advice or support and, where applicable, the consequences of not adhering 
to the policy and/or procedure.   
 
Driving at Work- Council Fleet Policy  

Page 15

Agenda Item 4



 

2 
 

A Fleet and Driver Risk Management review had been conducted by a 
consultant on behalf of Zurich, the Council’s insurance company. Its main 
purpose was to review the Council’s policies and arrangements against best 
practice standards and to provide recommendations that assist with ensuring 
compliance, protecting our workforce from harm, and reducing the risk of 
incidents.   
 
A key recommendation of the Review was the introduction of a Driving at 
Work Policy with embedded Driver Agreement which provides “clear 
unambiguous expectation as to driving standards”.  The Driving at Work – 
Council Fleet Policy was one of a suite of initiatives aimed at standardising 
recording and compliance across the vehicle fleet and achieving driving 
standards which improve driver and passenger safety, the number of fleet 
related incidents and accidents. Other initiatives include the introduction of a 
driver training e-learning module and robust checking systems for vehicles 
and licences.   
 
The Driving at Work – Council Fleet Policy introduced:- 
 

 Driver/Plant Operator Agreement to be signed on an annual basis; 

 The requirement to inform their manager of any change in health or 
physical/sensory impairments and an annual health assessment 

 With cause drug and alcohol screening 

 Employee paying up to £250 contribution to insurance excess costs, 
following a disciplinary procedure, if the damage is caused as a result 
of their negligence or driving without due care and attention 

 
Driving at Work - Use of Private Vehicle (Grey Fleet) Policy  
The Driving at Work – Use of Private Vehicle (Grey Fleet) Policy set out the 
expectations of those employees who use their private vehicle for Council 
business purposes. An e-learning module would also be developed to 
complement the policy.   
 
The Driving at Work – Use of Private Vehicle (Grey Fleet) Policy introduces; 
 

 Private Vehicle user Declaration to be signed on an annual basis; 

 The requirement to inform their manager of any change in 
circumstances which may affect the use of a private vehicle for work 
purposes 

 With cause drug and alcohol screening 

 Employee confirming that their vehicle is roadworthy, is MOT 
certificated (where appropriate) and correctly insured for business 
purposes. 

 
Following questions from the floor, it was AGREED to recommend the 
approval of the Driving at Work – Council Fleet Policy and Driving at Work 
–Use of Private Vehicles (Grey Fleet) Policy by Cabinet subject to 
considering checking that private vehicles were roadworthy on the DVLA  
website.  
 

Page 16



 

3 
 

4 Sickness Absence update 
An update was provided on the Sickness Absence Update at the request of 
the Committee at a previous meeting. It was reported that the policy sets out 
procedures of managing sickness absence in the Council. 
For the corporate workforce the Managing Sickness Absence at Work Policy 
& Procedure had been in place since autumn 2017. The processes outlined 
within the document had been fully implemented and were by now well 
established.     
 
For the school workforce, a revised model Managing Sickness Absence at 
Work Policy & Procedure was approved by Cabinet in December 2021 and 
was being offered to Governing Bodies this term for adoption.   
The following procedures were broadly the same for both policies.  
 
In relation to Sickness Absence monitoring, it was reported that the 
monitoring of sickness absence was split into two distinct parts: 
 
a)Short term sickness absence – short period of absences, often only a few 
days as a result of minor ailments 
b)Long term sickness absence – continuous absence of longer than 28 days 
 
Details of the policy in relation to the Short term absence monitoring,  
Long term sickness absence monitoring, Care First, and the Dying to Work 
Charter and Absences due to Covid-19, and the role of the Employee Health 
and Wellbeing Officer was provided. 
 
A presentation was also provided on the Sickness absence and the following 
information was provided:- 

 Number of Staff 

 Number of days lost 

 Number of days lost per FTE 

 Benchmarking – Number of days 2018-19, 2019-20, 2020-21 

 Word Cloud - Long Term Absence Reasons 

 Number of Occupational Health Referral 

 Number of staff whose employment ended on ill health 

 Covid-19 Absences as at 07/01/2022 
 
Following questions from the floor, it was AGREED to accept the report for 
information. 
 
Also consideration be given to comparing sickness absence in the private 
sector and with Powys County Council in future data presented to 
Committee.  
 
 

5 Digital Connectivity 
Consideration was given upon the report on Digital Connectivity. The report 
had been presented in order to provide Members with an overview of the 
initiatives and projects that Ceredigion County Council were currently 
undertaking to support the levels of digital connectivity across the County.   

Page 17



 

4 
 

 
The following information was provided by a power point presentation:-  

 Background 

 Current Situation – Broadband, Mobile 

 Current Projects/Initiatives – Broadband, Fibre Projects, Project 
Gigabit. Open Market & Reviews (OMR) 2021 

Mobile – Shared Rural Network, Extended Area Service (EAS), County wide 
LoRaWAN Network, Ceredigion SMART Towns, Digital Website, Digital 
Connectivity Mapping 

 Conclusion  
 
Following questions from the floor, it was AGREED to note the update report 
upon the digital connectivity agenda in Ceredigion and the work of the 
Council to help improve connectivity, in order to assist Members raise 
awareness and promote opportunities within their communities. 
 
 

6 Forward Work Programme 
The Forward Work Plan was agreed as presented subject to the following:- 

 A report on County Farms with recommendations on the way forward 
to be presented in the 17 March 2022 meeting  

 That the new Digital officer be invited to attend a future meeting 

 A report upon Smart Town grants and other monies granted to 
reinforce Towns would also be presented at a future meeting 
following the elections  

 
 
 

7 To confirm minutes of the previous meeting and to consider any 
matters arising from those Minutes. 
It was AGREED to confirm the minutes of the meeting held on the 14 October 2021 
and 27 October 2021 subject to noting that Councillor Endaf Edwards had tendered 
his apologies in the meeting on the 27 October 2021. 
 
Matters Arising 
Councillor Lyndon Lloyd MBE requested that a telephone number for CLiC was 
provided on consultation /public documents; as not all members of the public did not 
have access to respond to consultations on line. This request would be sent to the 
relevant officers.  
 
 

 
Confirmed at the Meeting of the Corporate Resources Overview and 

Scrutiny Committee held on 7 February 2022 
 

Chairman:   
 

Date:   

Page 18


	Agenda
	3 Community Housing Proposals
	Cyngor Sir CEREDIGION County Council

	4 To confirm minutes of the previous meeting and to consider any matters arising from those Minutes.

